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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

GERALD FARMER, POMPEY )
HICKS, ANTWON WILLIAMS, )
individually, and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V. CaseNo.08CV 3962

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
DIRECTSAT USA, LLC, JAY )
HEABERLIN, LLOYD RIDDLE, DAN )
YANNANTUONO, and UNITEK USA, )
LLC, )
)
)

Judge John Z. Lee

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Defendants DirectSat USA, LLC (“Direct®p Jay Heaberlin, Lloyd Riddle, Dan
Yannantuono, and Unitek USA, LLC (collectiyel'Defendants”) seek to bar the expert
testimony of Gerald A. Becker undéederal Rule of Evidence 702 abdubert v. Merrell Dow
Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993). For the following reasons, the Court grants Defendants’
motion.

Backaround

On February 1, 2010, Plaintiffs, who worked iastallation and serge technicians at
DirectSat installing satellite dishes and reflaeguipment at private homes and commercial
establishments, filed a Third Amended Complaileging that Defendants violated the lllinois
Minimum Wage Law (“IMWL”"), 820 ILCS § 105et seg., and the Fair Labor Standards Act

(“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. 8§ 201et seqg., by failing to fully compensate Plaintiffs for overtime
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worked?! Plaintiffs pursue their IMWL claims indigially and on behalf af class consisting of
“all individuals who were employed by Dir&dt as service thaoicians or production
technicians in the state ofimois between December 3, 20@6d June 11, 2008.” Plaintiffs
pursue their FLSA claims individually.

In support of their case, Plaintiffs have offé@erald A. Becker a@sn expert witness “to
provide testimony that will assistdhury in assessing damageqPIs.” Resp. 1.) Becker is a
retired investigator for the Department ofblos, Wage and Hour Division (“DOL”). (Defs.’
Mem. to Preclude Test. of Gerald Becker, ExBécker Dep. 13:1-3. (“Becker Dep.”)) Prior to
retiring in 2010, Becker investigated employersimpliance with the FLSANnd other wage and
hour laws for 35 years. Id. 21:9-17, 22:10-17.) His investigations consisted primarily of
interviewing employees andvwiewing payrollrecords. Id. 30:6-31:8.) He hals a bachelor’s of
arts degree from Valparaiso Universitythva double major in history and geographyld. (
24:24-25:5.)

In this case, Becker submitted a report in which he opines that “violations of the FLSA
have occurred” at DirectSat. (Defs.” Mem.Roeclude Test. of Gerald Becker, Ex. 2, Becker
Report 3 (“Becker Report”).) Specifically, he concludes that the weekly timesheets submitted by
installation and service techracis did not accurately refleall of the hours the technicians
worked because the timesheets did not captiome spent traveling between jobs, building
satellite dishes at home, plangidaily routes, helping other tegbians, or reading faxes with
daily assignments. |d. 4, 7.) He also concludes thattlimesheets did not capture time spent
attending weekly and monthly meetings at DieectSat warehouse, resking the van at the

warehouse, preparing inventorytéiof supplies needed, loadi unloading, and organizing the

1 On October 4, 2010, the Court granted Defendants’ summary judgment motion as to Plaintiffs’
common law claims of unjust enrichment, quantum meruit, and breach of implied corfeact.
Farmer v. DirectSat USA, LLC, No. 08 C 3962, 2010 WL 3927640 (N.D. lll. Oct. 4, 2010).
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van, pre-calling the first customer of the dayarling and maintaining the van, and working in
the warehouse on days when the tecilanis received no job assignmentsl. 7-8.)

Becker concludes that the technicians ehtus underreport their time because doing so
helped them achieve a higher “productivity ratingdlculated as weekly earnings divided by
weekly hours worked. 14. 5.) Becker concludes that playees with a productivity rating
below DirectSat’s standard rating could faeg¢raining, suspension, and termination, whereas
employees with a high productivityating could be promoted or help their managers earn a
higher bonus. I¢. 5.) Becker also conatles that technicians cleo$o underreportheir hours
because as their hours approached 40 hoursnieek they would be given fewer jobs, which
would result in lower pay, and because DirectSat discouraged employees from recording hours
by requiring them to obtain permission before working overting.5( 8.)

To reach these conclusions, Becker reviewlssl timesheet records of four DirectSat
technicians, the depositions of seven Direct8elinicians, and three months of GPS data from
thirty DirectSat techniciansvans. (Becker Dep. 147:13-148:16%:12-15; Becker Report 9.)

Each DirectSat technician was issued a company van to drive to work sites during the day.
(Becker Report 3.) Technicians were permitted td plae vans at their residences at night, so
they often began and ended their work day at their honlés. Ifp 2008, DirectSat equipped
thirty of these vans with a GPS system that could track the van’s locatahr®.)( Using three
months of records from these GPS systems, &ectiuld identify when a technician’s van was

at his home and when it was not during that time periti.9()

Using all of this information, Becker undeok to “reconstruct th&rue hours worked.”

(Id. 8.) First, using the GPS data, he calculated the time between the first and last movement of a

technician’s van eaclday (“GPS Time”). Id. 9.) Based on his experience as a DOL



investigator, he found it “reasonalite conclude that the entitene [between the van’s first and
last movement] should be considered hours wayrknce employees were not allowed to use the
vans for their personal usé.”(Id.) He then summed the daily GH8ne to arrive at a weekly
total and compared that total tiee total weekly howrthe technician reported on his timesheet
(“Reported Time”). (Becker Def3.7.) Becker concluded thatetldifference between GPS Time
and Reported Time represented the “off-thack” hours the technician workedld(79:3-11.)

Becker then calculated the average weekly t#-clock” hours for the thirty technicians
over the three month period covered by the GPS data, and found an average of 31.43 “off-the-
clock” hours for every two-week pay periodld.(79-80.) In addition, based on his review of
seven technician depositions, Becker condutleat, during each two-week pay period, the
technicians performed five adidinal hours of work (30 minutes per day for 10 days) outside of
the time between the van’s first and lagivement of the day. (Becker Report 10.)

To calculate the total unrecorded hoursrkea per two-weekpay period for each
technician, Becker added the average “offdleek” hours, 31.43 hours$o the unrecorded non-
GPS Time, 5 hours, to arriva a total of 36.43 uecorded hours for two-week pay periodid. (
11.) To calculate total back wages, Becker applied these 36.43 hours to every two-week pay
period in the class period for all 500 technisiaand arrived at a total damages figure of
$1,106,406.55.1¢. 12.) Defendants challenge Becker’s opinions.

Discussion

The admissibility of expert testimony g®verned by Federal Rule of Evidence 702 and

the Supreme Court’s seminal cd3aubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms. Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993).

By its terms, Rule 702 allows the admissionte$timony by an “expert,” someone with the

2 Becker did not deduct any time for meal breaks during the day because he concluded, based on his
review of four employee depositions, that all DirectSat technicians ate while driih@.) (
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requisite “knowledge, skill, experience, trainingt education,” to help the trier of fact

“understand the evidence or determine a fadssue.” Fed. R. Evid. 702. Experts are only
permitted to testify, however, when their testimonflis“based upon sufficient facts or data, (2)
the testimony is the product ofliable principles and methodsnd (3) the witness has applied
the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the cdsle.”

Daubert requires the district court to act ag #videntiary gatekeeper, ensuring that Rule
702’s requirements of reliability drrelevance are satisfied bef@owing the finderof fact to
hear the testimony of a proffered expeste Daubert, 509 U.S. at 58%ee also Kuhmo Tire Co.

v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 147-49 (1999)apsley v. Xtek, Inc., 689 F.3d 802, 805 (7th Cir.
2012). District courts have broad discretion itedmining the admissibilitgpf expert testimony.

See Gen. Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 142 (199M)apsley, 689 F.3d at 810 (“we ‘give the
district court wide latitude in performing itgate-keeping function andketermining both how to
measure the reliability of expeagstimony and whether the testiny itself is reliable™) (quoting

Bielskisv. Louisville Ladder, Inc., 663 F.3d 887, 894 (7th Cir. 2011)).

Before admitting expert testimony, distriadurts employ a three-part analysis: (1) the
expert must be qualified as an expert by knowledgil, experience, training, or education; (2)
the expert’'s reasoning or methodology underlyirgytestimony must be saigfically reliable;
and (3) the expert’s testimony musisist the trier of fact innderstanding the evidence or to
determine a factual issudielskis, 663 F.3d at 893-94. “The purpose of baubert inquiry is

111

to scrutinize the proposed expert witness temtiynto determine if it & “the same level of
intellectual rigor that characterizes the practiceaofexpert in the relevant field’ so as to be
deemed reliable enough poesent to a jury.Lapsey, 689 F.3d at 805 (quotingumho Tire Co.,

526 U.S. at 152). The proponent of the exjpmyars the burden of demonstrating that the



expert’'s testimony would satisfy thRaubert standard by a preponderance of the evidence.
Lewisv. CITGO Petroleum Corp., 561 F.3d 698, 705 (7th Cir. 2009).
Defendants argue that Becker is not diedi to be an expg his methodology is

unreliable, and his opinions wouht assist a jury. The Cowatldresses each argument in turn.

Becker’s Qualifications

“Whether a witness is qualified as an estpman only be determined by comparing the
area in which the witness has supeknowledge, skillexperience, or education with the subject
matter of the witness’s testimonyGayton v. McCoy, 593 F.3d 610, 616 (7th Cir. 2010). Here,
there is a mismatch.

Becker’s testimony focuses @h) reconstructing the “trukours worked” by DirectSat’'s
technicians using GPS datayda(2) calculating the total unigacompensation based on that
reconstructiori. To reconstruct the “true hours wodk&however, Becker does not analyze GPS
data for all 500 DirectSat teclumns over the whole 16-month clgsiod. Instead, he relies on
GPS data from thirty technicians over aettrmonth period. (Becker Dep. 147:13-148:12,
64:12-15; Becker Report 9.) He then extrapatis findings based on this sample to all 500
DirectSat employees for the entire 16-monthssl period. Based onathextrapolation, he

calculates total unpaid compensation.

% Becker is not the first expert Plaintiffs have put forth to opine on damages in this case. On June 14,
2010, Oran Clemons, also a former DOL investigator, submitted a preliminary expert report in which
he calculated DirectSat's “minimum wage and overtime back wage liabilge’ Defs.” Mot. to
Preclude Expert Testimony of Oran Clemons, Dkt. 251, Ex. 2 Preliminary Expert Report of Oran
Clemons 20. On November 9, 2011, however, Plaintiffs informed the Court that Clemons had died.
See PIs.” Mot. TerminateDaubert Hearing, Dkt. 283. In his report, Becker states that he “agree][s]
with Mr. Clemons’ analysis,” including Clemon$hethodology of making his calculations” and his
“conclusion regarding the number of unreported hours worked.” (Becker Report 9, 12.) Because an
expert witness must stand on his own and imoply serve as a mouthpiece for the opinions of
others, howeversee Dura Auto Sys. of Ind. v. CTS Corp., 285 F.3d 609, 614 (7th Cir. 2002), the
Court analyzes Becker’'s testimony, including all analysis and methodology, on its own, even if
Becker adopted the analysis or methodology originally constructed and performed by Clemons.
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At its core, Becker’s opinions are based upostatistical sampling analysis whereby he
employs a purportedly representative samplergh 30 technicians) for the purpose of
extrapolating to thentire population (alb00 technicians).See Utah v. Evans, 536 U.S. 452,
465-467 (2002) (describing statisticmmpling). This type of analysis, however, is not the area
in which Becker has superior knowledge, skill, eigrece or education. Bker is a retired 35-
year DOL investigator with experience invgating FLSA compliance. (Becker Dep. 6, 13:1-
12, 23.) He has a bachelor’s of arts degvéh a double major in Btory and geography.ld
24:24-25:5.) Becker has nevekeéa any college courses or cdeted any post-graduate work
in mathematics or statisticsld(25:13-16.) He has never received any training in statistics or in
designing valid scientific samples from whicbnclusions about arger population can be
drawn. (d. 25:13-16, 26:12-27:2) He does not ades himself an expert in designing
scientifically valid samples,nal he has never published any aescor books, contributed to any
journals or trade publications, or edited or senas a reviewer ofng publications related to
statistical sampling. Id. 27.) In addition, he has never begralified as an expert by any court
to provide opinion testimongbout the damage methodology he employs hefd. 9(7-11,
82:24-83:10.) In his work as a DOL investigr, he primarily interviewed employees and
reviewed payrth records. [d. 30:6-31:8.) He did not designisntifically valid samples from
which conclusions about larger pdations could be drawn. Id; 41:3-15.) Thus, he is not
gualified to provide expert tésiony based on the statisticalngaling analysis and subsequent

mathematical calculations he provides in this case.

Il. The Reliability of Becker's Methodology
Becker’s testimony cannot be peesed to the finder of fact fdhe additional reason that

he has failed to demonstrate that he usediable methodology. In determining reliability, the



Court must determine whether an expert’'s apisiare grounded in the methods and procedures
of science, and whethehe opinion has sufficient factual underpinning&oodwin v. MTD
Prods,, Inc., 232 F.3d 600, 608 (7th Cir. 2000). Beckes lfa@led to demonsdte that his data
and analysis are grounded in thetimoels and procedures of science.

A. Data

As an initial matter, Becker has failed tonttenstrate that the data upon which he relies
are reliable or provide sufficient factual underpinnings for his testimony. First, there is no
evidence that the GPS data, technician déposi or employee timesheets used by Becker
provide a random sample of the class. tiAes Court of Appeals has cautioned, a “non-random
sample might undermine the reliability of the statistic€havez v. Ill. Sate Police, 251 F.3d
612, 643 (7th Cir. 2001)ee also U.S v. Johnson, 185 F.3d 765, 769 (7th Cir. 1999) (“the
samples themselves . . . are problematic [becdheg]were not selected randomly from a larger
pool of subjects; thus, this was an instance of nonprobability samplBwghv. Commonwealth
Edison Co., 990 F.2d 928, 932 (7th Cir. 1993) (noting that the failure to examine a random
sample of work records prevented the profferadisttcs from demonstrating a pattern of racial
discrimination).

In his report, Becker notes that “[sliag in approximatelyFebruary 2008, DirectSat
installed GPS systems in the vans of about 8brtieians.” (Becker Report 9.) But Becker has
“no idea” how or why DirectSat selected tho80 technicians. (Becker Dep. 52:20-22.)
DirectSat could have installed GPS systems invtires of the 30 techniciarbelieved to be the
laziest at the company to gatheridence of shirking. Presumgpthe GPS data from these 30
vans would show fewer hours worked than therage DirectSat technam. Alternatively,

DirectSat could have installed GPS systems invtires of the 30 techniciarbelieved to be the



most industrious at the company to documert eeward their efforts. Presumably, the GPS
data from these 30 vans would show greater hwarked than the average DirectSat technician.
In either scenario, the GPS data from thet&thnicians whose vans were equipped with GPS
systems would not provide a representative safnphe which Becker could reliably draw class-
wide conclusions.

Similarly, the GPS data upon which Beckeiae® covers only three months, March 14,
2008 through June 11, 2008.d.(52:7-9.) Becker does not knomhy those three months were
selected, but he does acknowledge that Dire¢&sanicians experienceasonal fluctuations in
work with “the heavier period of work [in] lasummer, early fall, prioto the NFL season.”ld.
52:13-19, 53:13-23.) Just as a frandom selection of techniciamsuld impact the reliability
of extrapolating results from 30 to all 500 tedhans, so too could the non-random selection of
the time period impact the reliability of extrapolating results from three months to the entire
sixteen-month class period. For data toddmble, both the “whoand “when” matter.

The same concerns apply to the technidi@positions and timesheets upon which Becker
relies. Becker reviewed depositions froseven technicians and timesheets from four
technicians, but the class cats of 500 techicians. (d. 64:12-14, 147:20-24.)There is no
evidence that the employees deposed wereoralydselected or that the timesheets Becker
obtained from Plaintiffs’ cunsel were randomly chosen.

Despite these concerns, Beckenducts no analysis to tesktheliability of the data he
uses or to demonstrate the appraieness of extrapolating results from this data to all plaintiffs
for the entire class period. He admits tiha& did not collect the GPS data, identify the
technicians to depose, or decide which empldytamgsheets to pull for keew in a systematic

or scientific manner. (&ker Report 9, Becker Dejul. 26:2-17, 41:16-42:6, 147:9-24, 108:21-



110:2.) It could well be that threampling data are indeed represewea or it could be that the
particular depositions and timesheets were hackkd by Plaintiffs’ counsel to maximize the
strengths of Plaintiffs’ case.There is no way to know, andettein lies the deficiency.See
Espenscheid v. DirectSat USA, LLC, 705 F.3d 770, 774 (7th Cir. 2013) (finding testimony from
42 “representative” members of a proposed cssnsufficient basis fodrawing class-wide
conclusions because class counsel could not exfilaw these “represeatives” were chosen —
whether for example they were volunteers, ahpps selected by classunsel after extensive
interviews and hand picked to magnify damages sought by the cleessd)so Victory Records,

Inc. v. Virgin Records Am., Inc., No. 08 C 3977, 2011 WL 382743,*dt(N.D. Ill. Feb. 3, 2011)
(excluding testimony where expert selected sarfipdsed not on his own expertise or analysis,
but at the direction of [Rintiffs CEO and owner].”)

Additionally, Becker runs neests, calculates no confidenintervals, and provides no
margins of error to demonstrate how the sampdS @ata he received is representative of those
technicians and time periods for which he does not have GPS datal09-10.) He also
provides no analysis to confirmahthe experiences of the savechnicians whose depositions
he was provided are represative of the other 493 thaicians’ experiences.|d;) Becker’s
failure to demonstrate the appropriateness of mgpkacasts further doubt as to its reliability.
See Espenscheid, 705 F.3d at 774 (testimony from 42 “representative” members of a proposed
class an insufficient basis for drawing clagge conclusions because “no suggestion that
sampling methods used in statistical analysiseevemployed to create a random sample of class
members”);Allgood v. Gen. Motors Corp., No. 102CV1077, 2006 WL 2669337, at *10-11 (S.D.
Ind. Sept. 18, 2006) (expert testimony excluded where “samples [were not] chosen using some

method that assures the samples appropriately representativel)peffel Seel Prods., Inc. v.
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Delta Brands, Inc., 387 F. Supp. 2d 794, 811-12 (N.D. BI005) (excluding testimony where
expert did not articulate an adede basis for selecting the conmgdales used in the lost profits
calculation).

Analysis as to the representative nature efsimpling data is particularly important here
because the sample size of GiBa Becker uses and the number of depositions and timesheets
he reviews is small. Although “[d]eterminingetminimum sample size from which reliable
extrapolations can be made to the sampled population is triblgKbven v. Plaza Associates,

599 F.3d 578, 581 (7th Cir. 2010) (citing Floyd J. Fowler,Sliryey Research Methods 45 (4th

ed. 2008)), a small sample size can detrachfthe value of stetical evidence.See Teamsters

v. United Sates, 431 U.S. 324, 340 n.20 (“Considerations such as small sample size may, of
course, detract from the value of [statistical] evidendégyor of City of Philadelphia v. Educ.
Equality League, 415 U.S. 605, 621 (1974) ([T]he Districburt's concern for the smallness of

the sample presented by the 13-member Panel was . . . well founded”).

Here, Becker relies on three months of GR#a from 30 DirectSat technicians’ vans,
seven technicians’ depositions, and timesheets foamtechnicians to draw conclusions about
500 technicians over a 16-monttass period. (Becker Dep. 3212.) He has conducted no
analysis to demonstrate that G&&a from 6% of the techniciaf@r less than 20% of the class
period, deposition testimony from less than 2%heftechnicians, and timesheets from less than
1% of the technicians provide a sufficiently lkargample from which to draw conclusions about
all plaintiffs for the entire class period. In sum, Becker has failed to establish the reliability of

his data, as it is his burden to dgee Lewis, 561 F.3d at 70%.

* Defendants argue in a footnote that the GPS data are inadmissible because the data were produced
to Plaintiffs pursuant to a third-party subpoena, and are therefore unauthenticated. (Def.’s Br. 5 n.7.)
Defendants fail to develop this argument, however, and the argument is considered Véee/ed.

Alioto v. Town of Lisbon, 651 F.3d 715, 721 (7th Cir. 2011).
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B. Methodology

Becker has also failed to establish the religbof the assumptionand applications of
his methodology. For example, using the GP$a,dBecker identifies the first and last
movement of the technicians’ vans each dayeck@r Report 9.) He assumes that the entire time
between the first and last movemeconstitutes hours worked.ld() He takes out no time
between a van’s first and last movement of the fda meals, breaks, or any other time when a
technician might not have been workindd.X In fact, he ignores all GPS data between the first
and last movement, even thougiat data contain informat on midday stops and starts,
including midday stops and starts backeghhicians’ homes. (Becker Dep. 45:15-46:15, 119:2-
120:8.) Indeed, when presentadhis deposition with an exge of a technician whose GPS
data showed a more than two-hour midday stapetechnician’s own hoas Becker said that
such data did not raise any concerns almsitmethodology because “employees did work at
their residences” and “the conclusion is that this is worked timil” 120:12-121:13.) When
asked if the employee could have been sleepinigglthat time at home, Becker responded that
“Im]y methodology is concluding thail this is hours worked. So | don’t take into consideration
then that he was sleeping or mightédeen sleeping | should sayld.(122:20-23.)

This assumption is fatally flawed. As Beckhimself acknowledgk a technician could
have engaged in “any number” of non-work tethactivities between the van’s first and last
movement. Id. 122:5-6.) Using the GPS data, as Bedkrther acknowledged, “there’s just no
way of knowing what anybody is doing at any timeld. (23:15) The self-serving assumption
that the technician was working is not a sciéntifetermination that has “the same level of

intellectual rigor that characterizes the practiceanfexpert . . . so as to be deemed reliable
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enough to present to a juryl’apsley, 689 F.3d at 805 (internal quotations omitted). Indeed, this
Court has previously recognizecetilaw of such an assumption:
Plaintiffs also cite the GPS recordisr [a technician’s] company van which
indicate that it was in operation fé11.73 hours that week. . . While Plaintiffs
have demonstrated a gap between hloeirs worked by [the technician] as
recorded and the hours recorded thg GPS program on his company van,
Plaintiffs cite to no evidence, includiigstimony from [the technician] himself,
to support the contention that the GR8ards accurately recorded the number of
hours that [the technician] worked thaeek. In fact, there is no evidence to

show whether [the technician] usdds company van only for work-related
purposes that week.

Farmer v. DirectSat USA, LLC, No. 08-3962, 2010 WL 3927640, at *(I8.D. Ill. Oct. 4, 2010).
Thus, Becker has failed to demonstrate tiaicontinuous-work assumption is reliable.

Becker’s application of hismethodology is also flawed. Astated, Becker assumes the
time between a van’s first and last movement constitutes the “true” hours a technician worked.
(Becker Dep. 124:9-15.) For each of the 30 techngin the GPS data, Becker then subtracts
the hours the technician reporteaving worked in a week frothie “true” hours recorded by the
GPS data that week to calate the “off-the-abck” hours the technician workedld(79:3-11.)

He then calculates the average “off-the-clo¢idurs in a two-weelpay period across all 30
technicians for the 3 months of GRI&ta and arrives at 31.43 hourdd. (7/9:8-20.) Finally,
Becker adds this number, 31.43 hours, to the tall 500 technicians for each two-week pay
period in the 16-month class periddld. 80:15-17.)

But Becker conducts no anailygo identify situationsvhere applying these 31.43 hours
might not be appropriate. For example, in dwe-week period, a technician reported working

more hours than the GPS data recordettl. 87:15-17.) Becker neuheless added the extra

® Becker also adds 5 hours to each two-weekpeasipd to account for “unrecorded hours worked . . .

by the technicians at their homes either at the beginning or end of the work day.” (Becker Report
10.) Thus, in total, he adds 36.43 hours to eadimieian’s hours for every two-week pay period in

the class.
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31.43 hours to that technician ftrat two-week period even though his analysis is premised
upon the assumption that the GPS time is the “true time” worked and the 31.43 additional hours
are intended to compensate for situations where technicians reljgssteohe than the GPS data
recorded. Id.) Becker simply ignored this misdpgation of his methodology and conducted no
analysis to try to identify similar situationghere applying the addnal hours might not be
appropriate. 1@. 89:1-18.)

In other instances throughout his analysisclger simply made mistakes. For example,
in one document he received that listed the héechnicians recorded, a technician recorded
working 78 hours in a particular two-week pay periott. 91:19-92:7.) Yet on the document
that Becker used to calculate the differenoetween recorded hours and GPS hours, the
technician’s recorded hours for that pay period was listed add.8®1(13-15.) Becker admitted
that this was a mistake.ld( 92:6-7.) This mistake inflated anput into his calculation of his
31.34 hours benchmark by 60 hours, which in turiemedlly inflated the benchmark itself,
which Becker then applied across the entire claB$.92:12-17.) Becker claims that he “spot
checked” the data to try to catch these typesradrs, but his spot-checking analysis was not
systematic and failed to catch even basic errds.7(:16-72:1.)

In response, Plaintiffs argue that thesebgms go to the weigluf Becker’s testimony,
not its admissibility. (Pls.” Resp. 8-12But as the Supreme Court notedDaubert, “[e]xpert
evidence can be both powerful and quite misleabimgpuse of the difficultyn evaluating it.”
509 U.S. at 595. The Supreme Court held thatdistrict court mustserve[] a “gatekeeping”
function to prevent expert testimony from carryingreneight with the jury than it deserves.”
U.S v. Ozuna, 561 F.3d 728, 736 (7th Cir. 2009) (citiDgubert, 509 U.S. at 5953mith v. Ford

Motor Co., 215 F.3d 713, 718 (7th Ci2000)). Although “shaky’expert testimony may be
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admissible, subject to attack on cross-examinasemMetavante Corp. v. Emigrant Sav. Bank,
619 F.3d 748, 762 (7th Cir. 2010), unreliable testimony is inadmissibéBielskis, 663 F.3d at
894. Indeed, unreliable testimony is the very testimony that a district court, acting in its
gatekeeping role, is charged with excludirfgee Am. Honda Motor Co., Inc. v. Allen, 600 F.3d
813, 818-19 (7th Cir. 2010). Becker’s failure utllize the methods o$cientific statistical
sampling or conduct any systematic analysisigieed to demonstrate ethreliability of his
methodology and data renders his testignnot simply shaky, but unreliable.

In sum, Becker has failed to show that hialgsis is based upon sufficient facts or data,
the product of reliable principleand methods, and that he has applied the principles and
methods reliably to the facts of the casee Fed. R. Evid. 702. Congaently, his testimony

regarding damages is not sufficiently reliatidoe presented to the finder of fact.

[1I. Legal Conclusions

Finally, Becker's testimony is inadmissblbecause it contains improper legal
conclusions. An expert’s testimony must “assistttier of fact in undetanding the evidence or
to determine a factual issue.Bielskis, 663 F.3d at 893-94. “Expert testimony as to legal
conclusions that will determine the outcome of the case is inadmissiBt®ad Shepard Manor
Found., Inc. v. City of Momence, 323 F.3d 557, 564 (7th Cir. 2003 Here Becker’s report
contains numerous legal conclusions. For glamBecker concludethat “[m]y review and
analysis of the records and documents in thée adiscloses that violahs of the FLSA have
occurred.” (Becker Report 3, 123.) Becker also concludélat “no overtime exemptions
[from FLSA requirements] could beplied” to DirectSat employeesld(11.) These are legal

conclusions that are inapprage for expert testimony.
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Conclusion
For the reasons herein, the Court grabtfendants’ motion to exclude the expert
testimony of Gerald A. Becker [293]. Accordlyg, Defendants’ motion tstrike the purported

report addendum of Gerald A. BexK308] is stricken as mobt.

SO ORDERED ENTER: 3/22/13

X [l

U.S. District Judge

® In any event, the purported report addendum is untimely and does not cure the fatal flaws of
Becker’'s testimony. On October 1, 2012, Plaintiffs served Defendants’ counsel with an unsigned,
one-page document entitled “Becker Report Addenduigee Defs.” Mem. Strike Addendum of
Gerald A. Becker, Ex. A, Becker Report Addendum. First, Plaintiffs submitted this document nearly
five months after expert discovery closed on May 11, 2012, and four months after the parties
reported that discovery was completed and that they were ready for trial on June 2152t

287, 301. Second, the document does not fix the fatal flaws of Becker’s testimony. The document
states that Becker “revised [his] damage catmda . . . to correct certain errors found in the
previous computations.”ld. Specifically, Becker “corrected [] previous transcription errors” and
“made substantial corrections in the GPS work week computations” because “[flor approximately 15
employees, the GPS records were incorrectly labeled as being in the year 2012, instead of 2008”
which caused the “calculation of the GPS hours for those workweeks [to be] incotcecBecker

also revised the damage computation to “elimizatéitional employees who were either in training

or in light duty status.” Id. After making these changes, he calculated total back wages to be
$1,013,735.05I¢l.), instead of $1,106,406.55 as he calculated in his original report. (Becker Report
12.) None of these changes address Becker’'sdackialifications, his failure to demonstrate the
random selection or sufficient size of his sample, his failure to rely on scientific assumptions, and his
failure to systematically or scientifically review the data for errors or anomalies that might render the
application of his methodology inappropriate.
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